IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC01-2598

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 4D01-252

JENNIFER BACH, Petitioner,

vs.

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC., Respondent.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF FILED ON BEHALF OF PETITIONER

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal L.T. Case No. 4D01-252

> Law Offices of STROLLA & STROLLA Attorneys for Appellant 319 Clematis Street Suite 801 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Phone: (561) 802-8987 Fax: (561) 802-8957

STACY STROLLA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 0044954

ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's Complaint, finding that Petitioner's sole remedy under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, was to request an administrative hearing after the investigating agency issued a "no-cause" determination after the 180 day investigation period.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Appellant below, JENNIFER BACH, by and through her undersigned counsel, hereby files this Initial Brief in support of her Appeal of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's affirmance of the trial court's Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint or Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Complaint at issue plead, in relevant part, two counts under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 ["the Act"], Fla. Stat. §760 et. al..¹ The trial court granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint, finding that Petitioner's claims in Counts I and II are time-barred for her failure to request an administrative hearing after a

¹ Petitioner alleged claims for Hostile Working Environment under the Florida Civil Rights Act, Fla. Stat. §760 (Count I), Failure to Promote under Fla. Stat. §760 (Count II), and Wages Owed under Fla. Stat. §440 (Count III). Only Counts I and II are at issue in this appeal. The trial court granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, as opposed to the requested alternative Motion for Summary Judgment. The Court entered Final Judgment in favor of the Respondent as to Counts I and II on January 3, 2001.

"no cause" finding was issued by the Palm Beach County Equal Opportunity Office ["Local EO"], with that finding later adopted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ["EEOC"].

The dates of each event are critical to the issue on appeal. Petitioner originally filed her discrimination charge with the Local EO on April 12, 1999.² Her discrimination charge was dually filed with the Florida Commission on Human Relations ["FCHR"] and with the EEOC.³ One (1) year later, on April 10, 2000, the Local EO issued its "no cause" determination.⁴ The Local EO determination failed to advise Petitioner of her rights and options under the Act. Instead, the Local EO merely advised Petitioner that it was referring her case to the EEOC for a substantial weight review. On June 14, 2000, the EEOC adopted the findings of the Local EO.⁵ Like the Local EO, the EEOC failed to advise Petitioner of her options under the Act, instead only disclosing her remedies for federal claims. There was never a finding issued by the

² See Appendix Filed In Support of Petitioner ["Appendix"], Tab 4.

³ The FCHR deferred the investigation of Petitioner's complaint to the EEOC.

⁴ See Appendix, Tab 5.

 $^{^{5}}$ See Appendix, Tab 6.

FCHR.

On August 28, 2000, Petitioner filed her Complaint in circuit court. Respondent sought dismissal of Petitioner's

discrimination claims, arguing that regardless if a "no cause" determination is made before or after 180 days of filing, a claimant is only permitted to request an administrative hearing. Petitioner maintained that because the investigating agency failed to timely issue a determination within 180 days, as required by Fla. Stat. §760.11(3), she had the right to initiate a civil claim. In agreeing with Respondent's position, the trial court recognized that this issue presented a matter of first impression.⁶

Petitioner filed her appeal with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, seeking reversal of the trial court's dismissal order. While this case was pending on appeal with the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal addressed this issue, in part, in <u>Woodham v. Blue</u> <u>Cross and Blue Shield of Fla., Inc.</u>, 26 Fla.L.Weekly D1360 (Fla. 3rd DCA May 30, 2001), <u>certified on other grounds</u>, 2001 WL 1041025 (Fla. 3d DCA Sept. 12, 2001). The Fourth District

⁶ See Appendix, Tab 1.

Court of Appeal adopted the logic of <u>Woodham</u>⁷, and affirmed the trial court's order.⁸

Petitioner filed her Motions for Rehearing, for Certification and for Rehearing en banc. These Motions were denied.⁹ Consequently, Petitioner sought discretionary appeal with this Court. This Court entered an Order to Show Cause why this appeal should not be stayed pending this Honorable Court's decision in <u>Woodham</u>. After the parties submitted their replies to said Order, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this appeal. The issue on appeal are now ripe for determination.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's FCHR claims should be reversed on several grounds.

First, a clear reading of Fla. Stat. §760.11(8) provides a claimant the right to sue if the investigating agency fails to render a determination as to that charge within 180 days.

⁷ <u>Woodham</u> is currently on appeal with this Honorable Court. The certified question on appeal in <u>Woodham</u> is not identical to this appeal. The certified question in <u>Woodham</u> is whether an "unable to conclude" finding operates as a "no cause" finding.

⁸See Appendix, Tab 2.
⁹See Appendix, Tab 3.

Section 760.11(8) states that if the FCHR fails to conciliate or determine whether cause exists within 180 days, the claimant may proceed under §760.11(4). Subsection (4) provides the right to file a lawsuit. This Court recognizes, however, that the "Legislature was well aware of the fact that the Commission did not always make a determination within the 180 days following the filing of the complaint." Joshua v. City of Gainesville, 768 So.2d 432, 438 (Fla. 2000). As such, the Legislature established a self-invoking right to sue if no determination was made before that 180-day period expires. Fla. Stat. §760.11(8).

Second, even if this Court determines that a conflict exists between the Act's subsections, only Petitioner's position provides a consistent reading of the statutory language of the Act. Section 760.11(3) of the Act requires the FCHR to investigate the allegations of a discrimination charge within 180 days. Section 760.11(7) of the Act, however, has an illusionary conflict with Sections (3), (4) and (8). Section 760.11(7) states that a complaint is to be dismissed if the FCHR renders a no-cause finding.¹⁰

¹⁰ Section 760.11(7) states: "If the commission determines that there is not reasonable cause to believe that a violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 has occurred, the commission shall dismiss the complaint."

Subsections (4) and (8) of the Act clearly state that complainants have the right to file a civil action after the 180 day period expires. Unfortunately, the Legislature did not specifically state whether a complaint is to be dismissed if the no-cause finding is issued after 180 days. The statutory construction of the Act supports that a claimant has the right to initiate litigation if the FCHR issues a "nocause" determination after the 180 initial investigation period. Third, permitting a "no-cause" determination that is issued after the 180 day statutorily mandated period to destroy Petitioner's right to sue denies Appellant her due process

rights. There is a non-delegable duty on the part of the FCHR to provide some notice to Petitioner as to the status of her charge within the 180 day period. This was never done. Petitioner should not be deprived of her constitutionally protected rights simply because the investigating agency failed to timely investigate her claim.

Fourth, Section 760.11(3) requires the FCHR to properly notify Petitioner of her options under the Act once a determination was made. It is undisputed that the Local EO, the EEOC and the FCHR failed to comply with this statutory

requirement. The agencies' failure to do so, once again, denies Petitioner due process.

Fifth, the appellate opinion is not consistent with legislative and this Honorable Court's intent for liberal interpretation of the Act.

Lastly, the Legislature and this Court have expressed a strong policy in favor of letting the administrative process run its course, even while affording the claimant a right to end that process by filing a lawsuit after 180 days has passed. But no reasonable claimant will let the process run its course if, after day 180, doing so involves the risk of losing an already-acquired right to sue. The appellate opinion sets up a race to the courthouse wherein the complainant will rush to divest the FCHR of jurisdiction to avoid being stripped of the right to sue by an untimely "no cause" determination.

ARGUMENT AND ANALYSIS

<u>I.</u> <u>CLAIMANT HAS THE RIGHT TO FILE A LAWSUIT IF A "NO-CAUSE"</u> <u>DETERMINATION IS ISSUED AFTER THE 180 DAY INITIAL</u> <u>INVESTIGATION PERIOD.</u>

The Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that if the FCHR issues a "no-cause" determination, even if issued after the 180 day initial investigation period, a claimant's sole remedy is to request an administrative hearing. The

appellate court's interpretation of the Act's language was erroneous for three reasons: (1) it conflicts with the plain language of Fla. Stat. §760.11(8); (2) even if there exists conflict between the sections, statutory construction establishes that a claimant is not stripped of her vested right to sue; and (3) it defeats the legislative intent of the Act to preserve access to the courts.

A. A Clear Reading Of Fla. Stat. §§760.11(3) and (8) Provide A Claimant The Right To Sue If The Investigating Agency Fails To Render A Determination

As To That Charge Within 180 Days.

If a statute's language is clear and unambiguous, it should be given its plain meaning. <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, 450 SO.2d 217 (Fla. 1984). Section 760.11(3) is clear and unambiguous:

[T]he commission **shall** investigate the allegations in the complaint. Within 180 days of the filing of the complaint, the commission **shall** determine if there is reasonable cause to believe that discriminatory practice has occurred in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. [Emphasis added].

Section 760.11(3) does not provide that the FCHR may, can, or should investigate a claim within 180 days of filing, but mandates that it "shall" do so.¹¹

¹¹ Section 760.11(3) also states that if a no-cause finding is issued, the claimant must be notified by registered

Section 760.11(8) states: "In the event that the commission fails to conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause on any complaint under this section within <u>180 days</u> of the filing of the complaint, an aggrieved person may proceed under subsection (4), as if the commission determined that there was reasonable cause." [Emphasis added].

Again, the statutory language is clear. The FCHR has an affirmative duty to investigate charges "within 180 days." Fla. Stat. §760.11(8) [emphasis added]. If they fail to do so, a claimant has her choice of remedies under subsection (4). One of these remedies includes the option of filing a lawsuit.

If the FCHR, or its deferral agency, fails to issue a determination within 180 days, this Court holds that a claimant has four (4) years in which to file suit. Joshua v. <u>City of Gainesville</u>, 768 So.2d 432 (Fla. 2000). As it is undisputed that Petitioner filed her circuit court action after 180 days but before the four year statute of limitations, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion

mail and advised of her options. As discussed *infra*, it is undisputed that Petitioner never received a registered letter from any agency advising of her options under the Act. Not only did the FCHR fail to comply with this notice requirement, it is logical to conclude that no such letter was sent because the FCHR recognizes that once 180 days passes without a determination, Petitioner is free to file her lawsuit.

should be reversed and Petitioner's Complaint reinstated.

B. Statutory Construction Of The Act Supports That Petitioner Has The Right To Sue If A No-Cause Determination After 180 Days.

"When interpreting a statute and attempting to discern legislative intent, courts must first look at the actual language used in the statute." Joshua at 435, relying on <u>State v. Iacovone</u>, 660 So.2d 1371 (Fla.1995), <u>Miele v.</u> Prudential- Bache Secs., Inc., 656 So.2d 470 (Fla.1995), and Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla.1984). If the language of the statute is unclear, then rules of statutory construction control. <u>Id</u>., relying on <u>Holly</u>, 450 So.2d at 219. Where the literal language of the statute is in conflict with the stated legislative policy of the act, the court will not give the language its literal interpretation "when to do so would lead to an unreasonable conclusion or defeat legislative intent or result in a manifest incongruity." Id. at 435. See also Blinn v. Florida Dept. of Transportation, 2000 WL 1880213 (Fla. App. 1 Dist., 2000); Las Olas Tower Co. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 742 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), review granted, No. SC95674, 761 So.2d 330 (Fla. March 20, 2000). Once the intent is determined, the statute may then be read as a whole to properly construe its effect.

As a general rule of statutory construction, if there is

any reasonable basis for consistency, provisions of an act are to be read as consistent with one another rather than in conflict. <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Rush</u>, 777 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), relying on <u>State v. Putnam County Dev. Auth</u>., 249 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1971). When conflicting provisions exist within the same statute, the most recent expression contained in the statute normally prevails, but if the last expression in one section is plainly inconsistent with preceding sections which conform to the legislature's obvious policy and intent, the later section must be construed as to give it effect consistent with such other sections and with policy they indicate. <u>Id.</u> The Petitioner's position provides for a consistent reading of the Act.

Section 760.11 must be considered in pari materia. <u>Mayo</u> <u>Clinic Jacksonville v. Department of Professional Regulation,</u> <u>Board of Medicine</u>, 625 So.2d 918, 919 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). The sequence of relevant subsections establishes that a claimant has the right to file a civil lawsuit after 180 days, even if the FCHR later issues a no-cause finding.

The first section of importance is the 180 day required initial screening process under §760.11(3). The next provision goes on to explain what remedies are available once a cause finding is issued. See Fla. Stat. §760.11(4). The

next relevant section states that if a no-cause finding is issued, then the complaint is dismissed and the complainant's only recourse is to seek an administrative hearing. Fla. Stat. §760.11(7). The very next provision, Fla. Stat. §760.11(8), states that if the FCHR fails to conciliate or determine whether cause exists within 180 days, the claimant may proceed under §760.11(4), which provides the right to file a lawsuit.

At first blush, §760.11(7) appears to support that a complaint must be dismissed when a no-cause finding is rendered, regardless of when it is issued. That interpretation, however, is in direct conflict with subsections (3), (4) and (8).

As discussed *supra*, Section 760.11(3) is clear and unambiguous in mandating that "[w]ithin 180 days of the filing of the complaint, the commission **shall** determine if there is reasonable cause to believe that discriminatory practice has occurred." [Emphasis added].

Section 760.11(4) explains the remedies available:

In the event that the commission determines that there is reasonable cause to believe that a discriminatory practice has occurred in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, the aggrieved person may either: (a) Bring a civil action against the person named in the complaint in any court of competent jurisdiction; or (b) Request an administrative hearing

under ss. 120.569 and 120.57.

Section 760.11(8) states that if the FCHR "fails to conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause... within 180 days," a complainant may proceed under subsection (4), as if the commission determined that there was reasonable cause." [Emphasis added]. It must be noted that subsection (8) is completely void of any language that "unless a no-cause finding is later issued," a claimant may chose her remedies.

Critically, subsections (4) and (7) fall between the mandated 180-day initial screening process of subsection (3) and the self-invoking right to sue provision of subsection (8). The logical interpretation of that sequence is that the Legislature intended that subsection (4) apply to a "reasonable cause" determination made within the 180 day period and that subsection (7) applies to a "no-cause" determination timely made within the 180 day period. That is precisely why the Legislature included, at the end of the process, the option of an administrative hearing or a civil lawsuit "in the event that the commission fails to conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause" within 180 days. Fla. Stat. §760.11(8).

Petitioner's interpretation is further supported by <u>McElrath v. Burley</u>, 707 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). In

<u>McElrath</u>, an employee filed a declaratory judgment against the FCHR, seeking to declare the Act as unconstitutional. Ms. Burley asserted that the Act was unconstitutional, explaining that:

both claimants who receive a determination by the FCHR of reasonable cause to believe that an unlawful employment practice has occurred and those claimants whose claims are not processed within 180 days, regardless of merit, have the right to proceed directly

to court without having to go through the administrative process to which the statute relegated Burley after issuance of the 'no-cause' determination. <u>McElrath</u> at 838. [Emphasis added].

Ms. Burley recognized that under the Act, "two plaintiffs with identical charges may be treated differently because one who receives a **timely** no-cause determination must proceed through the administrative process challenged herein, but one whose claim is not examined expeditiously and who receives no determination within the 180-day period may proceed to court on a claim for damages without having to go through the administrative process." <u>McElrath</u> at 839. [Emphasis added].

In declaring the constitutionality of the Act, the court expressed that "[n]ot until expiration of the 180-day period, or the **prior** issuance of a cause or no-cause determination, is there any divergence in the treatment of charging parties." <u>McElrath</u> at 840. [Emphasis added]. That very language

appears to confirm that the FCHR, or its deferral agency, must issue a determination within 180 days.

The <u>McElrath</u> court also provided great insight into the effect of §760.11(7) of the Act by explaining that the "provision permitting those who have had no action within the 180-day period to proceed directly to circuit court protects such charging parties from any preclusive effect of dilatory review." <u>McElrath</u> at 840. The court further explained that the Act "avoids having that screening process arbitrarily eliminate the right to review by allowing those whose charges are not efficiently handled to proceed to circuit court if no ruling has been rendered in 180 days." <u>McElrath</u> at 840. [Emphasis added]. This language supports that once 180 days pass without the agency concluding its investigation, a claimant is free to initiate litigation, regardless of a delayed and untimely finding.

In <u>Andujar v. National Property and Casualty</u> <u>Underwriters</u>, 659 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), the plaintiff filed a discrimination charge with the FCHR. The FCHR failed to take any action within 180 days. Instead, eight (8) months after filing her charge, the EEOC issued a Right to Sue letter. Ms. Andujar then filed a federal discrimination claim. The federal trial court granted summary judgment

against Ms. Andujar. As a result, the plaintiff filed a state discrimination claim in circuit court. Although the issue on appeal involved an argument of res judicata, the court explained that when the FCHR "takes final action or after the passage of 180 days, whichever happens first, the complainant may file a civil action." <u>Andujar</u> at 1217.

As discussed *supra*, the liberal and logical interpretation of the Act establishes that a claimant who receives an untimely "no-cause" determination has the right to file a lawsuit, and is not bound by the administrative hearing option. Accordingly, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion should be reversed with instructions to reinstate Counts I and II of Petitioner's Complaint.

<u>II.</u> THE FAILURE TO ISSUE A DETERMINATION WITHIN 180 DAYS, AS <u>REQUIRED BY SECTION 760.11(3), DEPRIVE PETITIONER DUE</u> <u>PROCESS AND PROPERTY INTEREST.</u>

A. Vested Rights Are Not Written In Disappearing Ink

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