#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**Case No. SC01-2598** 

JENNIFER BACH,

Petitioner,

VS.

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC.,

Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP 701 Brickell Avenue Suite 3000 Miami, Florida 33131

Tel.: (305) 374-8500 Fax: (305) 789-7799

Counsel for United Parcel Service, Inc.

### **

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case. As this Court well knows, unless the district court's decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of a sister district court or with a decision of this Court, its discretionary jurisdiction may not be invoked. But, as even amicus curiae, the NELA, recognized: "this Court in <u>Joshua</u> did *not* expressly address whether the right to sue that vests on day 180 may be revoked by a "no cause" finding coming after 180 days but still within the four-year limitations period." This Court held in <u>Joshua</u> only that, when the FCHR fails to make a cause determination within the 180-day investigation period, the four-year statutory limitations period found in section 95.11(3)(f) applies and not the one-year period found in 760.11 (5) – a *different* point of law from the one at issue in this case.

But even if this Court opts to exercise its jurisdiction, it may not address or

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> NELA Init. Br. at 5 (emphasis added).

decide Bach's untimely-raised "notice" issue or the EEOC's irrelevant, worksharing agreement "notice" issue. Bach did not properly raise below her new-found argument that the FCHR failed to provide adequate notice. She cannot show that she raised this "notice" argument in the trial court because she filed no written document presenting this argument, and the trial court hearing was not recorded. Moreover, arguments raised only in footnotes and reply briefs and not addressed by the district court are not preserved for this Court's review. And besides, Bach was not entitled to chapter 760 notice because she did not file her charge with the FCHR as required under the version of Chapter 760 in effect at the time she lodged her discrimination complaint.

The EEOC's point that an EEOC "no cause" does not operate as a FCHR "no cause" because, under the worksharing agreement between the EEOC and the FCHR, each agency must issue its own cause determination is irrelevant here. Bach did not initiate her claim with either the FCHR or the EEOC; neither agency deferred to the other under the FCHR-EEOC Worksharing Agreement. Bach initially filed her discrimination charge with the Palm Beach OEO. But the Palm Beach OEO does not have a worksharing agreement with the FCHR requiring the Palm Beach OEO to notify the FCHR of its determination or requiring the FCHR to issue its own determination based on the OEO's findings.

Finally, if this Court were to exercise its jurisdiction in this case and proceed under the assumption that Bach properly filed her discrimination complaint under

chapter 760 and thus that section 760.11 applies here, it should construe section 760.11 according to its plain and unambiguous language and according to the legislature's obvious intent.

In making their arguments to this Court, Bach and the amicus NELA discount and underemphasize what the legislature well understood: once investigated, some discrimination claims will be found meritorious; others – like Bach's – will be found non-meritorious.

The statute gives the FCHR 180 days to investigate a complaint. If during that time the Commission determines that there is reasonable cause to believe the claimant was discriminated against, the claimant may file a civil suit or seek an administrative hearing before the Commission. At the time of drafting the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, the legislature well understood that the Commission could not investigate every claim lodged with it within the 180 days. And thus it provided claimants receiving *no determination* the opportunity to seek either a judicial remedy *or* an administrative remedy upon the expiration of the 180-day investigation period. But the statute also plainly and unambiguously provides – without specifying any timeframe – that if the Commission determines that there is *not reasonable cause* to believe that the claimant was discriminated against, the Commission is to dismiss the FCHR complaint. Upon a no-cause dismissal, the claimant's statutory remedy is an administrative hearing before an administrative law judge.

Contrary to Bach's assertions, interpreting section 760.11(7) to mean what it says – a no-cause determination may be adjudicated only administratively – does not "divest" a no-cause claimant of a remedy or of due process. The no-cause claimant is entitled to an administrative hearing subject to Commission review and later, if necessary, judicial review. A no-cause claimant who is successful in convincing the Commission or the appellate court that she was discriminated against may sue her employer or accept the affirmative relief offered by the Commission. Thus, under the legislative scheme, *all* claimants are afforded an administrative remedy, and claimants with *meritorious* claims are *always* afforded a *judicial* remedy.

Under the common law, there was no right to sue an employer for discrimination. Thus the legislature was not precluded from allowing claimants who receive either "cause" determinations or no determination at all to sue in state court but restricting claimants who receive "no cause" determinations to an administrative hearing. In fact, this scheme evinces its intent to permit only those claimants with meritorious claims to sue in Florida's crowded courts. As the legislature obviously understood, to permit claimants who receive "no-cause" determinations – whenever received – to sue in state court is to waste this state's limited judicial resources on futile – even frivolous – claims.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE BECAUSE THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN <u>BACH</u> DOES NOT "EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY" CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>JOSHUA</u>

As this Court has so often stated, it

may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law.

Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). "Inherent" or "implied" conflict cannot serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction. Dep't of Health & Rehab. Servs. v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Serv., Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986). This Court has observed that decisional conflict occurs most often in two situations:

(1) the announcement of a *rule of law* which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case disposed of by this Court.

Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960). Thus the "primary function" of this Court is to "stabilize the law" by reviewing only those decisions that "form patently irreconcilable precedents." Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell, 113 So. 2d 697, 699 (Fla. 1959). That is, the "conflict must be such that if the later decision

and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter." <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962). The question Bach requested the Fourth District to certify was:

Whether a claimant under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, may be divested of an already-acquired right to sue if the Florida Commission on Human Relations, or its deferral agency, issues its nocause determination after the 180 day investigation period?

(RA.93.) The question certified by the First District in <u>Joshua v. City of Gainesville</u>, 734 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), <u>decision quashed</u>, 768 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 2000), was:

Does the section 760.11(5), . . ., one-year statute of limitations for filing civil actions "after the date of determination of reasonable cause by the Commission" apply also upon the Commission's failure to make any determination as to "reasonable cause" within 180 days as contemplated in section 760.11(8) . . . , so that an action filed beyond the one-year period is time-barred?

734 So. 2d at 1071. These are not the *same* questions of law. And the <u>Bach</u> decision would not have the effect of overruling this Court's <u>Joshua</u> decision. The two decisions are compatible: One decision addresses the situation where the claimant receives *no determination* whatsoever; the other addresses the situation where the claimant receives a *no-cause* determination, but after the expiration of the 180-day

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In <u>Joshua</u>, this Court advised that that case revolved around four FCRA subsections: 760.11(3), (4), (5), and (8). Subsection 760.11(7) – the provision at issue here – was not mentioned and was not at issue in <u>Joshua</u>.

period.<sup>10</sup> Under <u>Joshua</u>, if the Commission *never determines* the merits of the discrimination charge, the claimant has four years to file suit in state court. Under <u>Bach</u>, if the Commission *determines* that the charge has *no merit*, the claimant has thirty-five days to seek administrative review of that determination. This bifurcated routing based on the claim's merit has been found constitutional. <u>See McElrath v. Burley</u>, 707 So. 2d 836, 840 (Fla. 1st DCA) (holding that alleged disparate treatment of FCRA claimants was rationally related to permissible governmental purpose), review denied, 718 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 1998).

Because <u>Joshua</u> and <u>Bach</u> address and resolve different rules of law, we respectfully suggest that jurisdiction was improvidently granted in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As the majority pointed out in <u>Woodham</u>, "[n]owhere does <u>Joshua</u> *address* or grant aggrieved persons the ability to disregard subsection 7 administrative hearing requirement nor does it allow a lawsuit after receipt of a "no cause" determination, albeit beyond the 180-day period." 793 So. 2d at 45 (emphasis added).

II.

# THE PETITIONER AND AMICI CURIAE, NELA AND EEOC, RAISE TWO ISSUES THAT THIS COURT MAY NOT ADDRESS

#### A.

# Bach Did Not Properly Or Timely Raise Her "Notice" Issue Below, And The Courts Below Did Not Address It

The issue of whether the Commission gave Bach the notice required under subsection 760.11(3) is not – and cannot be – before this Court. First, there is no record evidence that this issue was raised in the trial court. Bach's new-found notice argument did not appear in any trial court papers, and the trial court did not address it or rule on it in its December 2000 dismissal order. Therefore, even if Bach had properly raised the issue on appeal, the Fourth District could not have addressed it. See Alamagan Corp. v. Daniels Group, Inc., 809 So. 2d 22, 26 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (noting that an "appellate court may not decide issues that were not ruled on by a trial court in the first instance"); Wilkerson v. Alachua County, 675 So. 2d 951, 952 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (affirming dismissal because argument raised on appeal had never

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Subsection 760.11(3) provides in pertinent part that "[w]hen the commission determines whether or not there is reasonable cause, the commission by registered mail shall promptly notify the aggrieved person and the respondent of the reasonable cause determination, the date of such determination, and the options available under this section." § 760.11(3), Fla. Stat. (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The hearing on UPS's motion to dismiss was not reported.

been presented to the trial court); Nail v. Rinker Materials Corp., 528 So. 2d 450, 453 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (ruling that where trial court did not have the issue before it, the issue had not been preserved for appellate review). See also Dober v. Worrell, 401 So. 2d 1322, 1323-24 (Fla. 1981) (citing Lipe v. City of Miami, 141 So. 2d 738, 743 (Fla. 1962) (holding that "[m]atters not presented to the trial court by the pleadings or ruled upon by the trial court will not be considered by [the supreme court] on appeal")).

Second, Bach's attempts to raise the notice issue in a footnote in her initial brief and later in her reply brief were ineffective. Bach raised only one issue in the Fourth District, and it was not lack of agency notice. It was:

[w]hether the trial court properly dismissed Appellant's Complaint, finding that a claimant's sole remedy under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, is to request an administrative hearing if the Florida Commission on Human Relations, or its deferral agency, issues its nocause determination after the 180 day investigation period.

(4th DCA Init. Br. at 1.) In footnote 6 of her initial brief, Bach stated that there was "no evidence that [she] had ever received a registered letter from any agency advising

of her options under the Act."<sup>13</sup> But "[i]t is elementary that arguments which are not made as a point on appeal . . . but are found only in [a] footnote in the appellant's brief, are not properly presented to the appellate court for review." R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Engle, 672 So. 2d 39, 41 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (citing Fla. Ass'n of Nurse Anesthetists v. Dep't of Prof'l Regulation, 500 So. 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)); see Lipsig v. Ramlawi, 760 So. 2d 170, 192 n.24, 193 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (refusing to address issues not raised below and then raised only in footnotes in appellate brief) (quoting R.J. Reynolds), review denied sub nom. Miami Columbus, Inc. v. Ramlawi, 786 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2001).

In her reply brief, Bach tacked this lack of notice issue onto the body of her due process argument. (4th DCA Init. Br. at 11-12.) But it is also elementary that an argument made for the first time in the reply brief is not properly raised and presented to the appellate court for review. See J.A.B. Enters. v. Gibbons, 596 So. 2d 1247, 1250 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (reasoning that "an issue not raised in an initial brief is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Bach reasoned that "it is logical to conclude that no such letter was sent because the agency recognize[d] that once the 180 days passe[d] without determination, [she was] free to file her lawsuit." (4th DCA Init. Br. at 10 n.6.) We, on the other hand, think it "logical to conclude" that the FCHR did not send her notice because she did not file her complaint with the FCHR; because no worksharing agreement with the Palm Beach OEO required the OEO to inform the FCHR of its determination or the FCHR to make and issue its own determination based on the OEO's investigation, (see EEOC Br. at 5 n.2); and because there is no evidence that the Palm Beach OEO, in fact, notified the FCHR of its determination.

deemed abandoned" and ruling that the appellants could not argue that they did not receive a compensation order where their initial brief did not raise the issue); see also RIS Inv. Group, Inc. v. Dep't of Bus. & Prof'l Regulation, 695 So. 2d 357, 359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (declining to address constitutionality arguments "as they were raised for the first time in the reply brief"); Gen. Mortgage Assocs., Inc. v. Campolo Realty & Mortgage Corp., 678 So. 2d 431, 431 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (ruling that it could not consider issue raised for the first time in the reply brief); Carrasquillo v. Holiday Carpet Serv., Inc., 615 So. 2d 862, 863 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (same); Snyder v. Volkswagen of Am., Inc., 574 So. 2d 1161, 1161 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (same).

And last, it is elementary that this Court may not consider issues not properly raised and ruled on below. See Cargle v. State, 770 So. 2d 1151, 1155 n.3 (Fla. 2000) (declining to address claim that "was not the basis for [the Court's] conflict jurisdiction in this case and was not addressed by the district court below"); Metro. Dade County v. Chase Fed. Hous. Corp., 737 So. 2d 494, 499 n.7 (Fla. 1999) (declining to address an issue that was "neither raised in the trial court nor addressed by the [district court]" and thus was not preserved for appellate review); Oyster Pointe Resort Condo. Assoc., Inc. v. Nolte, 524 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1988) (declining to address evidentiary issue where record revealed no evidence that issue was raised in the trial court or on appeal to the district court); Simmons v. State, 305 So. 2d 178, 180 (Fla. 1974) (holding that where issue was not passed upon below, it could not be cited for conflict or considered

by the Court on the merits). Because Bach did not timely and properly raise her notice argument below, this Court may not consider it. And for the same reason, this Court may not consider the EEOC's notice argument.

В.

The EEOC's "Lack of FCHR Notice" Argument Is Irrelevant Here; Bach Conceded Below That the EEOC Notice Operated as a FCHR Notice and Never Claimed Otherwise

The issue the EEOC raises in its amicus brief – whether an EEOC nocause notice operates as an FCHR no-cause notice – is not before this Court.

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